IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC07-2402

Lower Tribunal Nos.: 4D06-2378 & 4D06-2379 (Consolidated)

THE SCHOOL BOARD OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

VS.

SURVIVORS CHARTER SCHOOLS, INC.,

Respondent.

ON REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FOURTH DISTRICT, STATE OF FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER, THE SCHOOL BOARD OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Gerald A. Williams, Esq.

Florida Bar No. 203351

Randall D. Burks, Ph.D., Esq.

Florida Bar No. 561101

THE SCHOOL BOARD

OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA

Office of Chief Counsel

Post Office Box 19239

West Palm Beach, FL 33416-9239

Telephone: (561) 434-7377

Facsimile: (561) 357-7647

Counsels for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND OF THE FACTS

A. Nature of the Case

This case involves the security of public funds and implicates the safety of students in charter schools—public schools funded with public money, but operated privately under a contract with a school board. The case arose from Survivors' challenge to the immediate termination of its charter contracts due to the severity of audit findings of systemic financial mismanagement and alarming deficiencies in fiscal controls.¹ (R. 0252-72; 786-97.)

The School Board conducted the audit after Survivors' own CPA exposed abuses so serious that Survivors' own lawyer referred to "errors in judgment, some monumental," a "public scandal," and a "crisis" (R. 0682)—and warned that the

_

¹ A summary of just *a few examples* (which were detailed in the School Board's Answer Brief in the Fourth DCA) would include: the school principals were using public resources for personal gain; public monies were used inappropriately for large purchases such as a \$1,691-per-month lease reimbursement for a principal's BMW, a principal's personal credit card purchases, a sizeable auto allowance for the bookkeeper (a principal's father), and a 10-year contract for season tickets to professional football games; a principal's son received over \$6,000 in public money through unauthorized ATM withdrawals, facilitated by a lack of proper fiscal controls and with no proof of repayment; and other public funds were deposited into bank accounts of private for-profit corporations controlled by the school principals. The complete list of violations covers several pages. In sum, numerous, serious abuses were discovered, along with deficient internal controls to safeguard public funds or detect fraud or accounting errors. There were other kinds of violations, as well, such as hiring several educators who were not certified teachers, failing to conduct mandatory criminal background screening on one or more employees, and failing to comply with personnel and payroll procedures and fiscal reporting requirements.

violations had "the potential for destroying everything [the founders] had worked for over the past five years." (R. 0547.)

The Board's auditor interacted with Survivors frequently throughout the audit, kept them informed of the findings, and provided the draft report (substantially identical to the final Audit Report) to Survivors for a response. (R. 0398; 0273-89.) Survivors was invited to, but did not attend, the Board's Audit Committee meeting on January 13, 2006, at which the Report was reviewed and approved. (R. 398.) Because of the severity of the findings, the Audit Committee recommended that the report be submitted to the IRS and State Attorney's Office. (R. 398.) A Survivors principal discussed the outcome with the auditor after the Audit Committee meeting. (R. 398.)

School District staff had met with Survivors several times to discuss the crisis, but Survivors' governing body seemed recalcitrant. The School Board noted that Survivors' board was well-aware of the findings but had shown a lack of willingness to take full corrective measures—a situation that was already exasperating and now grew urgent in light of the audit report that had just been issued. (R. 0352; 0355-56.)

Due to the crisis revealed by the alarming audit findings, the School Board decided that it must take immediate action to stem further mismanagement and abuse of public funds. (R.0260-72; 0359-60; R.0362-63.)

The Board gave notice that it would consider immediate termination under the charter school law and contracts, due to the severity of the audit findings. The Board heard argument by Survivors' lawyer and others at a special meeting on January 25, 2006, before deciding immediate termination was necessary. (R. 0340–0357.) The Board then provided the contractual 24-hours' notice of termination. (R.0359-63.) The District assumed operation of the schools under Section 1002.33(8)(d) while Survivors appealed to the State Board of Education.

B. Course of Proceedings in the Lower Tribunal

Pursuant to Section 1002.33(6)(e), Fla. Stat. (2005), the State Board of Education ("SBE") first referred the parties' briefs and documentation for review by the Charter School Appeal Commission ("CSAC"). (R. 1011-1250.) The CSAC devoted over six hours to the "fair and impartial review" mandated by § 1002.33(6)(e)1, Fla. Stat. (2005). Survivors' lawyer had the opportunity for several hours of argument and presentation of documentation. The SBE then considered the CSAC's recommendations, along with independently reviewing the voluminous documentation and hearing further argument of Survivors' lawyer and a school principal. (R. 1311-29.)

C. Disposition in the Lower Tribunal

On May 16, 2006, the State Board of Education found that the severity of the audit findings constituted good cause for immediate termination of Survivors'

charters. The SBE issued final orders approving and finalizing the terminations. (R. 1425-26.) Survivors appealed to the Fourth DCA, where the basic underlying issue was whether the Legislature really meant that the sponsoring school board may terminate a charter "*immediately* if the sponsor determines that good cause has been shown or if the health, safety, or welfare of the students is threatened." § 1002.33(8)(d), Fla. Stat. (2005) (e.s.).

The District Court surprisingly held that immediate termination of a charter contract is subject to the notice and quasi-judicial hearing procedures of the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), and remanded the case for such proceedings. *Survivors Charter Schools, Inc. v. School Bd. of Palm Beach County*, 968 So. 2d 39, 46 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007), *reh'g, etc., denied* Dec. 4, 2007.

Since 1996 school boards have been able to terminate charter contracts right away to protect the students or for other urgent good cause. See § 228.056(10)(d) (1996). But under the Fourth District's decision, school boards can no longer terminate a charter even to halt gross mismanagement, abuse of public funds, or threats to students' health, safety, or welfare, until after quasi-judicial proceedings have taken their course for "something less than ninety days." Ironically, that is what the decision called "immediate." 968 So. 2d at 45 (e.s.).

-

² The kind of quasi-judicial proceedings to which the decision apparently refers can realistically consume several months, as the Uniform Rules of Procedure under the APA provide for pleadings, motion practice, discovery, quasi-judicial hearing, post-hearing submittals, a final order, etc. *See* Chapter 28-106, Fla. Admin. Code.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Plain Language Must Be Given Effect. "A charter may be terminated immediately if the sponsor determines that good cause has been shown or if the health, safety, or welfare of the students is threatened." § 1002.33(8)(d), Fla. Stat. (2005). Such plain language must be given its full effect. A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey, 102 Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157, 159 (Fla. 1931).

Section 1002.33(8) Preempts the APA. A school board's initial decision is preliminary in nature. The school remains open during the appeal to the State Board of Education (SBE), and no substantial interests are affected under the APA. The special termination procedures were intended protect charter school students and public funds. "Statutes should be construed in light of the manifest purpose to be achieved by the legislation." *Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Auth. v. K.E. Morris Alignment Serv., Inc.*, 444 So. 2d 926, 929 (Fla. 1983).

The Legislature intended these procedures to create an exception to, and control over, the more general procedures of the Administrative Procedure Act, which conflict with the Charter Statute's procedures. *Cf.*, *e.g.*, *Floyd v. Bentley*, 496 So. 2d 862, 864 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). Furthermore, the Charter School Statute's procedures must prevail because that law was enacted more recently than the APA and represents the last expression of legislative intent. *McKendry*, 641 So. 2d at 46.

5

³ The 2005 statutes were applied primarily in the appellate proceedings below.

Termination Requires "Documentation," Not Quasi-Judicial Evidence. The 2006 amendment of Section 1002.33 made it clear that school districts will show good cause for termination through "documentation supporting the reasons." See § 1002.33(8)(c) (2006) (e.s.). A school district need only "identify the specific issues that resulted in the immediate termination." Id. § 1002.33(6)(d) (2006). Likewise, the Charter School Appeal Commission reviews "the materials presented to them [as] . . . documentation." § 1002.33(6)(e)5, Fla. Stat. (2005). Here, the reasons for termination were copiously documented in an official government audit.

<u>In Any Event, Survivors Expressly Agreed to Immediate Termination</u>

<u>Without a Hearing.</u> Survivors knowingly entered contracts provide for immediate termination upon 24 hours' notice, with only the right of appeal to the SBE. This Court should enforce the contract. Moreover, Survivors did not request a hearing.

Yet, <u>Survivors Received Ample Due Process</u>. The appropriate due process for immediate terminations is defined by the Charter Statute: an appeal to the SBE, which includes a lengthy informal hearing before the Charter School Appeal Commission. § 1002.33(6)(e). Further, Survivors provided extensive written and oral commentary to the School Board, and a brief and oral argument to the SBE.

<u>Deference Must Be Afforded to the State Board of Education's Interpretation</u> and Its Final Orders. The Florida Department of Education and SBE, the agencies charged with enforcing the Charter Statute, have long interpreted immediate termination as really being immediate. That reasonable construction is entitled to great deference and should be upheld. *See Florida Dep't of Educ. v. Cooper*, 858 So. 2d 394, 396 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003). Under a 2002 amendment, a school board's initial decision to terminate is preliminary in nature. Although the District Court reviewed only the School Board's initial determination, the SBE's final orders the only "final action subject to judicial review." § 1002.33(6)(d). As the SBE found good cause for immediate termination due to the severe audit findings, and the District Court did find any error in the SBE's orders, its orders should be affirmed.

The District Court Erroneously Denied the Existence of Immediate Orders Under the APA. Because the District Court denied the existence of emergency orders, it insisted on a full quasi-judicial hearing. However, Section 120.569(2)(n) expressly provides for *immediate orders* to address "an immediate danger to the public health, safety, or welfare." If any APA order is required, it should be under that section. However, the better view is that the APA does not apply at all.

The Practical Consequences Militate Against a Quasi-Judicial Hearing. An APA hearing may take months. The District Court interpreted "immediate" as only "something less than ninety days"—which vitiates the intent of the Statute. This Court uphold the SBE's orders and protect charter school students and public funds by holding that *immediate* means "immediate" and that the special procedures of Section 1002.33(8) are exclusively applicable in charter terminations.

ARGUMENT

I. Contrary to the Fourth DCA's Opinion, the Immediate Charter Contract Termination Should Be Upheld Because the Legislature Intended that Charter Contract Terminations Proceed Under the Charter School Statute, Not the APA.

Standard of Review: *De Novo*. The applicability of the Charter School Statute, rather than the Administrative Procedure Act (APA), involves an issue of law, reviewed *de novo*. *See D'Angelo v. Fitzmaurice*, 863 So. 2d 311, 314 (Fla. 2003) (which law applies is a pure question of law, reviewed *de novo*. Thus, "no deference is given to the judgment of the lower courts."); *Talbott v. American Isuzu Motors, Inc.*, 934 So. 2d 643, 644 (Fla. 2d DCA 2006) (whether one statute preempts another is a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*).

A. Interpretation of the Charter School Statute Must Honor the Legislative Intent of Taking Instant Action to Protect Students' Health, Safety, or Welfare, or the Safety of Public Funds, from Imminent Threats.

"A charter may be terminated immediately if the sponsor determines that good cause has been shown or if the health, safety, or welfare of the students is threatened." § 1002.33(8)(d), Fla. Stat. (2005). "Statutes should be construed in light of the manifest purpose to be achieved by the legislation." *Tampa-Hillsborough County Expressway Auth. v. K.E. Morris Alignment Serv., Inc.*, 444 So. 2d 926, 929 (Fla. 1983). For the intent, the Court "looks first to the statute's plain meaning." *Moonlit Waters Apartments, Inc. v. Cauley*, 666 So. 2d 898, 900

(Fla. 1996). "The plain meaning of statutory language is the first consideration of statutory construction." *State v. Bradford*, 787 So. 2d 811, 817 (Fla. 2001).

The plain language of Section 1002.33(8)(d) indicates the Legislative intent of protecting students and public funds immediately⁴ in emergencies and for other good cause. "[T]he statute must be given its plain and obvious meaning." *A.R. Douglass, Inc. v. McRainey*, 102 Fla. 1141, 137 So. 157, 159 (Fla. 1931).

A school board would be seriously negligent if it were to stand by idly waiting 14 days for notice and several weeks or months for a quasi-judicial APA hearing when the life, health, or safety of students is at risk, or there is fraud, waste, or abuse of public funds. Such delay would defeat the purpose of the immediate-termination provision. Thus, the APA's procedures cannot apply.

B. The Special Termination Procedures of the Charter School Statute Take Precedence Over the General Procedures of the APA.

1. A Specific Statute Controls Over a More General Law.

As this Court explained in *McKendry v. State*, 641 So. 2d 45, 46-47 (Fla. 1994), to determine which statute applies, this Court begins by noting: "a specific statute covering a particular subject area always controls over a statute covering the same and other subjects in more general terms." *Adams v. Culver*, 111 So. 2d

9

⁴ The common meaning of *immediately* is: "without the intervention of another object, cause, or agency . . . occurring, acting, or accomplished without the loss of time." WEBSTER'S THIRD NEW INTERNATIONAL DICTIONARY 1129 (1981). Thus, "*immediately*" cannot mean "only something less than ninety days" as surprisingly concluded by the court below.

665, 667 (Fla. 1959); *McKendry*, 641 So. 2d at 46. Here, the Charter School Statute provides special, specific procedures tailor-made for charter contract terminations.

2. A Specific Statute Constitutes an Exception to Procedures in a More General Law.

A more specific statute is an exception to the general terms of the more comprehensive statute. *Floyd v. Bentley*, 496 So. 2d 862, 864 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). Here, the Charter Statute provides special, explicit procedures for terminating a charter contract, which do not mention the APA, and which conflict with the APA. *See* § 1002.33(8)(d), (6)(c)-(e), Fla. Stat. (2005). Thus, the Charter Statute's specific termination procedures are an exception to the general terms of the APA.

3. The Conflict Between the Charter School Statute and the APA Must Be Resolved in Favor of the Charter Statute.

The District Court noted a clash between Section 1002.33(8)(d) and Section 120.569(2)(b). *Survivors*, 968 So. 2d at 45. The Charter Statute must control, because where two statutory provisions are in conflict, the specific statute controls over the general statute *See State v. JM.*, 824 So. 2d 105, 112-13 (Fla. 2002); *accord Bryant v. State*, 876 So. 2d 623, 624 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004). Accordingly, the Charter School Statute preempts the more general APA.

4. The Charter School Statute, as the More Recent Pronouncement, Must Prevail Over the Older APA.

As this Court declared in *McKendry*, "when two statutes are in conflict, the later promulgated statute should prevail as the last expression of legislative intent."

McKendry, 641 So. 2d at 46 (citations omitted) (applying a more-recently enacted sentencing statute instead of a law that was enacted "long before mandatory minimum sentences were known. . . . "). The APA was enacted more than 25 years before charter schools were known through enactment of the Charter School Statute in 1996. The statute was most recently amended in 2007 and still expresses the intent of taking instant action when "the sponsor determines that good cause has been shown or if the health, safety, or welfare of the students is threatened." § 1002.33(8)(d), Fla. Stat. (2007). The Charter Statute's procedures must prevail.

5. Certain Parts of § 1002.33 Were Amended to Be Subject to the APA, but the Legislature Purposefully Omitted Any Mention of the APA as to the School Board's Termination Decision.

The Legislature has amended the law to include APA-hearing requirements in certain portions of the Charter School Statute, such as where an employee suffers retaliation. *See id.* §§ 1002.33(4)(a) and 1002.33(6)(h) (2005); but the Legislature has never made such amendments to Section 1002.33(6)(c)-(e) and (8).

"[W]hen a law expressly describes a particular situation where something should apply, an inference must be drawn that what is *not* included by specific reference was intended to be omitted or excluded." *Prewitt Management Corp. v. Nikolits*, 795 So. 2d 1001, 1005 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001).

The District Court emphasized that "any provision exempting the School Board's termination decision from the provisions of the APA" was allegedly

"[c]onspicuously absent" from Section 1002.33. However, the Legislature did not need to specify that exemption so expressly because the School Board's preliminary decision is not final agency action; only the State Board's final order holds that status under Section 1002.33(6)(d); and the State Board's final action is expressly exempt from the APA. *See* § 1002.33(6)(c), Fla. Stat. (2005).

The District Court also assumed that the APA should prevail because the Charter School Statute "does not discuss any requirements or timelines for notice or hearings in cases of immediate charter termination." However, the reason Section 1002.33(8)(d) does not mention any hearing before immediate charter terminations for emergencies of health, safety, welfare, or other urgent good cause, must be because the Legislature did *not intend* any hearing prior to such emergency/urgent-good-cause action. The delay quasi-judicial proceedings would defeat the intent of the emergency provisions and further endanger students' life, health, safety, or welfare, or the safety of public funds.

C. The Legislature Did Not Provide for any Hearing Before the Sponsor in Cases of Immediate Termination Under § 1002.33(8)(d), Fla. Stat.; that Process Is Distinct from the Regular 90-days' Termination Process in § 1002.33(8)(c).

Florida's original charter school legislation in 1996, codified at Section 228.056, provided for immediate termination under paragraph 228.056(10)(d). The only substantial difference between the 1996 and 2005 editions is the charter governing body's current ability to appeal the immediate termination decision

within 14 days to the State Board of Education. That ability was added in 2001. The House Staff Analysis of 2001 CS/CS/HB 269 explained the situation for immediate termination as it had been from 1996 through 2000:

"Section 228.056 (10)(d), F.S. authorizes a sponsor to terminate a charter immediately if it determines that *good cause* has been shown or if the health, safety, or welfare of the students is threatened. Under such a scenario, current law <u>does not provide a charter school with the opportunity to request an informal hearing before the sponsor</u> or appeal the decision to the State Board of Education." [e.s.] [(R. 977.)]

The House understood that the forerunner of Section 1002.33(8)(c) (2005) (which provides for an *informal* hearing before the Board in cases of *regular* 90-days' termination)—did not apply to the forerunner of paragraph (8)(d) (which does *not* provide for such hearing). If the Legislature had intended the "informal hearing" provision of paragraph (8)(c) to apply to immediate terminations under (8)(d), it would have said so. "[W]hat is not included by specific reference was intended to be omitted or excluded." *Nikolits*, 795 So. 2d at 1005. Thus, no informal hearing before the sponsor is contemplated for an immediate termination.

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