IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Supreme Court Case No. SC07-2402

Fourth DCA Consolidated Case Nos. 4D06-2378 & 4D06-2379

Fla. Board of Education Case Nos. 2006-1169 FOI

THE SCHOOL BOARD OF PALM BEACH COUNTY, FLORIDA Petitioner,

vs.

SURVIVORS CHARTER SCHOOL, INC. Respondent

AMENDED ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT SURVIVORS CHARTER SCHOOL, INC.

BRYAN J. YARNELL, ESQ. Florida Bar No. 088900 Lead Counsel for Respondent Survivors P.O. Box 18021 West Palm Beach, FL 33416-8021 Telephone: (561) 427-8930 Facsimile: (561) 537-7168 Email: bryanyarnell@gmail.com

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

The Legislature cannot delegate to an administrative agency, even one clothed with certain quasi-judicial powers, the unbridled discretion to adjudicate private rights. It is essential that the act which delegates the power likewise defines with reasonable certainty the standards which shall guide the agency in the exercise of the power.

Delta Truck Brokers, Inc. v. King, 142 So.2d 273, 275 (Fla. 1962).

Imhotep-Nguzo Saba Charter School v. Department of Educ., 947 So.2d 1279,

1282 -1283 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007).

IV. Survivors Had No Opportunity To Request And Then Be Heard At A Properly Noticed Hearing.

The School Board's two notices of its emergency meeting do not provide

sufficient information such that Survivors would have a duty to request a hearing. (R.0332, R.0335) In fact, case law supports that Survivors did exactly what it was supposed to do here. File an appeal and contest the lack of notice and hearing (i.e. due process) that the School Board failed to provide to Survivors.

A. Survivors Did Not Have A Duty To Request A Formal "Hearing" Because The School Board's Notices Were Defective.

The notices issued by the Superintendent did not notify Survivors of its right to request a full due process hearing. (R.0332, R.0335) Therefore, the notices were defective. *See* § 120.569(1), Fla. Stat. (2003)("Each notice shall inform the recipient of any administrative hearing or judicial review that is available under this section"). Thus, Survivors was not required to request a hearing.

The School Board obfuscates the issue as to the requirement to request a hearing. The provisions of the APA providing for emergency meetings do not require the party with a substantial interest to request a hearing. *See* § 120.569(2)(n), Fla. Stat. (2003) ; § 120.525, Fla. Stat. (2003) . An emergency meeting is designed to allow an agency to take limited action to cure an emergency, not final action to terminate the substantial interests of a party.

In any event, the School Board failed to comply with the requirements for calling a "meeting" on an "emergency" basis:

In order to satisfy due process, "an immediate final order must contain factual allegations demonstrating the following:

- 1. The complained of conduct was likely to continue.
- 2. The order was necessary to stop the emergency.
- 3. The order was sufficiently narrowly tailored to be fair."

[citation omitted] . . . "[I]t is not sufficient merely to allege a statutory violation; instead, the order must contain a factual recitation sufficient to demonstrate the existence of an imminent threat of 'specific incidents of irreparable harm to the public interest' requiring use of the extraordinary device afforded by section 120.569(2)(n)." [citation omitted] Past acts may be sufficient to allege a danger of future misconduct if the conduct alleged is sufficiently serious and is likely to be repeated. [citation omitted]

Kodsy v. Department of Financial Services, 972 So.2d 999, 1002 (Fla. 4th DCA

2008)(emphasis added). Here, the School Board did not make the requisite

findings of fact to support an emergency order. Nor could it make such findings as

School Board members specifically noted the absence of any emergency. (R.0353)

B. The Charters Provide For A 24 Hour Notice Of Termination After An Immediate Termination Decision Has Been Made At A Hearing Where Evidence Is Introduced And Cross-Examination Occurs.

The School Board argues in its brief that general provision J of the Survivors

WPB and Survivors BB charter contracts allow the termination of the charters immediately without hearing. I. Br. at 20-25. The language of the charters is plain and unambiguous. Survivors disagrees with the School Board as to the meaning of the immediate termination provisions.

The pertinent language of each contract is identical: "This charter may be

terminated immediately upon twenty-four (24) hours notice **if the Sponsor determines** that good cause **has been shown** "*See* General Provision J of the Survivors WPB and BB Charters (emphasis added). (R.0126, R.0172) The plain language of this provision clearly means that the School Board first holds a hearing and if good cause is shown at the properly noticed hearing, then termination can be ordered on just 24 hours notice thereafter.

The School Board argues that a showing may occur at a meeting relying upon a School Board Policy that allows the School Board to convene at a meeting to make decisions. I. Br. at 21. The School Board's argument is erroneous because Survivors' charters are not subject to School Board Policies. *See* § 1002.33(5)(b)(4), Fla. Stat. (2004)(" The sponsor's policies shall not apply to a charter school.").

V. Survivors Was Never Given An Opportunity To Contest The School Board's Contrived "Documentation" At The School Board's "Emergency Meeting."

The School Board argues that it provided Survivors with the minimum due process required by the Florida Constitution and U.S. Constitution. The School Board supports its argument by arguing that Survivors received adequate notice and opportunity to be heard as to immediate termination through the audit process.

The School Board used an "audit process" in this case to create "audit documentation" that it then attempted to use in an "immediate termination" proceeding. However, the School Board has no authority by statute to conduct the immediate termination proceeding as part of the audit proceeding. What the School Board cannot do is to conduct an "immediate termination proceeding" at an "emergency meeting" instead of holding the "hearing" required by the APA for a proceeding under section (8)(d).

The Fourth District's decision holds that neither section 120.525 nor section 120.569(2)(n) are applicable to a termination proceeding because Survivors' substantial interests required a formal hearing under the APA. This decision reflects the different purposes of the "meeting" and "hearing" provisions of the APA. The "action" allowed at a meeting pursuant to either section 120.525 or section 120.569(2)(n) is a limited "action" that can only apply a "cure" to the "immediate danger" identified during the "emergency meeting" and, further, the agency must make findings of fact that an "emergency" exists, define its scope, and then identify the limited "cure" necessary to eliminate just the "emergency." The School Board failed to do any of the things required by the foregoing provisions of the APA because "emergency meetings" are conducted "hurriedly" by the School Board and are only necessary to cut out a small problem, not to end contracts immediately.

There are no "emergency order" provisions in the Charter School Statute. Instead, the Charter School Statute provides an "immediate termination" provision at section (8)(d) that provides no procedural guidance. Although, the APA applies, section 120.569(2)(n) is inapplicable because it supplies procedures for conducting an "emergency meeting" to address health, safety and welfare issues, not contract terminations on an immediate basis.

The final orders of the School Board each state that the School Board terminated the charters "because of the severity of the Audit Findings." (R.0359, R.0362) The audit findings then form the basis of the School Board's action. Those findings only exist in the Audit Report which was never introduced into evidence nor was the auditor examined under oath in front of the School Board. Thus, the School Board's reliance solely on the hearsay Audit Report violated Survivors right to due process because Survivors never had the chance to cross examine the auditor to explore the basis of the hearsay statements in the audit report or to confront any other witness. In *Morfit v. University of South Florida*, 794 So.2d 655 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001), the Second District held that reliance upon hearsay statements in a written report violated Morfit's right to due process:

The complaining witnesses were never called. In fact, the only statements from the alleged victims were contained in the investigation report written by an officer who talked with them. Morfit was entitled to have the witnesses make their statements directly to the hearing officer, and he was entitled to question them. This is a fundamental ingredient of due process in any judicial or quasi-judicial proceeding. . . . We must conclude that the school denied Morfit his right to due process, and, therefore, this decision must be reversed. Not only did the initial hearing deny him his due process rights, but the appeals determination, finding as it did that he had been afforded due process, was also in error. Accordingly, we reverse.

Morfit at 656 (emphasis added); *see also Winters v. Florida Board of Regents*, 834 So.2d 243, 250 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)("Because the report was both unsworn and hearsay, the [administrative law judge] committed no error in failing to admit or to consider its contents. Conversely, the agency erred by concluding that the report constituted competent evidence upon which it could base its conclusion.").

The School Board argues that it need not present evidence at a quasi-judicial proceeding quoting the Fifth District's decision in *School Bd. of Osceola County v. UCP of Central Florida*, 905 So.2d 909, 914 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005) that "good cause contemplates a legally sufficient reason." I. Br. at 13. The next sentence of the quote shows that the Fifth District, in keeping with *Morfit* and *Winters*, required the record to contain "evidence" not just a "reason." *UCP* at 914 ("good cause contemplates a legally sufficient reason. Here, the record is completely devoid of empirical evidence")(emphasis added); *see also Orange Avenue Charter School v. St. Lucie County School Board*, 763 So.2d 531 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000)("the school board should have conducted a full informal evidentiary hearing prior to its initial decision.").

It is a fundamental right of any party whose contractual rights are at stake to TEST the evidence:

It is the essence of a fair trial that reasonable latitude be given the cross-examiner, even thought he is unable to state to the court what fact a reasonable cross-examination might develop. **Prejudice ensues from a denial of the opportunity to place the witness in his proper setting and put the weight of his testimony and his credibility to a test** without which the jury cannot fairly appraise them.

See Alford v. U.S., 282 U.S. 687, 692 (1931)(emphasis added). The APA protects

this right of cross examination:

The first hearing, which produced Milliken's statement that Altimeaux quit, was not conducted pursuant to section 120.569(2)(j), because that section requires that a "party shall be permitted to conduct cross-examination when testimony is taken." Because Altimeaux did not have the opportunity to cross-examine Milliken at that hearing, the appeals referee should have rejected Milliken's testimony there as incompetent.

Altimeaux v. Ocean Const., Inc., 782 So.2d 922, 924 -925 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001); see

also § 120.569(2)(j), Fla. Stat. (2003). Survivors has certainly suffered prejudice

here from the School Board's failure to give Survivors a hearing before

termination at which Survivors could have contested the hearsay Audit Report.

VI. The Fourth District Has Jurisdiction Over The School Board As The Lowest Tribunal Below.

The School Board argues that its termination order cannot be the subject of Survivors' appeal to the Fourth DCA because only the SBE's final orders are appealable. This argument ignores that the School Board did take "agency action" when it terminated Survivors' two charters. *See* § 120.52(2), Fla. Stat. (2003) ("'Agency action' means the whole or part of a rule or order"). The "agency

action" taken by the School Board in this case violated Survivors' right to due process of law because the School Board failed to adhere to the APA by not giving Survivors a hearing at which it could contest or introduce evidence.

Although the School Board's orders are not final in terms of appealing to the District Court under section 120.68, they were final and dispositive because the School Board immediately took possession of Survivors' properties and assets:

Though they do not meet the requirements for orders imposed by Sections 120.57 and 120.59, they are orders nonetheless, and final in the sense of being dispositive in the absence of judicial review.

Graham at 813; Polar Ice Cream & Creamery Company v. Andrews, 146 So.2d 609, 612 (Fla. 1st DCA 1962).

In *Imhotep*, the Fourth District considered another charter school's complaint that the Palm Beach County School Board failed to allow the charter school an opportunity to be heard and to introduce evidence at a hearing. The Fourth District denied the charter school relief because it failed to make a proffer of evidence at any level or complain about its denial of due process:

There is no evidence in the record to support this claim. . . . The charter schools did not make this argument in the hearing before the SBE and, in fact, point to no instance where they actually sought to present evidence but were denied the opportunity to do so.

Imhotep at 1284-1285. In this case, Survivors preserved this error by proffering evidence to the CSAC and the SBE, and both refused to consider it.

Specifically, the CSAC refused to allow Survivors to introduce the

deposition of the School Board's auditor that was taken the day before the CSAC hearing. The CSAC denied Survivors' proffer of this and other evidence stating that the Commission would only consider the "documents" that the School Board considered when it terminated Survivors two charters. (R.1015, R.1206-1208) Survivors was thus denied due process by the School Board and then by the CSAC and SBE.

Having failed to afford Survivors due process by failing to provide a proper notice and hearing, the School Board never obtained any jurisdiction to take any action. Thus, Survivors needed to do nothing to appeal that error first to the SBE and then to the Fourth District. *Cf. Dept. of Revenue v. Daystar Farms, Inc.*, 803 So.2d 892, 896 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002)(lack of jurisdiction can be raised at any time on appeal).

A. Survivors Has Always Preserved Its Right To Contest The Violation Of Its Right To Due Process Of Law By Exhausting Its Administrative Remedies Through Taking An Appeal To The SBE.

A common error made by public employees and public entities is their failure to exhaust administrative remedies prior to seeking assistance from the courts by filing a civil action to redress the wrong done by the administrative agency. Here, Survivors chose to do what the Charter School Statute required, appeal to the SBE. After Survivors lost its appeal at the SBE, Survivors appropriately entered the court system by appealing to the Fourth District pursuant to § 120.68, Fla. Stat. (2003).

In *Flo-Sun, Inc. v. Kirk*, 783 So.2d 1029, 1037 (Fla. 2001) this Court announced the public policy of this state is that courts should have the benefit of the administrative agency's experience prior to reviewing a dispute between the agency and a party with substantial interests. *See id.* at 1037 ("The doctrine of primary jurisdiction enables a court to have the benefit of an agency's experience and expertise in matters with which the court is not as familiar, protects the integrity of the regulatory scheme administered by the agency, and promotes consistency and uniformity in areas of public policy.").

The Fourth District recently affirmed the public policy of Florida that administrative remedies must be exhausted by reversing a trial court's final judgment in a public employee's breach of contract action:

... Caldwell essentially argues that she was not required to exhaust administrative remedies because the process of her termination was so flawed. We do not agree that the Board's errors excused Caldwell from the responsibility to exhaust her administrative remedies. **The failure to exhaust administrative remedies deprived the trial court of subject matter jurisdiction** over the breach of contract claim.

District Bd. Of Trustees Of Broward Community College v. Caldwell, 959 So.2d

767, 770 -771 (Fla. 4th DCA 2007)(emphasis added).

Unlike Dr. Caldwell, Survivors exhausted its administrative remedies by appealing to the SBE. When the SBE denied Survivors' appeals, Survivors had exhausted its administrative remedies and appropriately appealed to the Fourth District to seek relief from the School Board's violation of Survivors right to due process of law. Survivors has preserved its rights by raising due process first on appeal to the SBE and then on appeal to the Fourth District.

B. The School Board's Failure To Accord Due Process To Survivors Requires The Fourth District To Reverse The School Board And Remand To The School Board To Conduct The Proper APA Hearing.

The Fourth District was clear in its holding that (a) Survivors had a

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